VILNIUS UNIVERSITY

MEDICAL FACULTY

The Final thesis

Coronary Syndrome in Children with Inflammatory Heart Disease

Kristin Merie Ann Valdman, VI year

Institute of Clinical Medicine Clinic of Children's Diseases

Supervisor Assist Dr. Odeta Kinčinienė

Consultant (if applicable)

The Head of Department/Clinic

Prof. Dr. Augustina Jankauskienė

Registration day at Department/Clinic_____

(filled in by technical assistant of Department/Clinic)

Registration n._____

(filled in by technical assistant of Department/Clinic)

Email of the student: <u>ann.valdman@mf.stud.vu.lt</u>

(signature)

(signature)

(signature)

Table of Contents

Summary	3
1. Introduction	4
1.1 Literature search strategy	5
2. Mechanism and Pathology	6
2.1 Protein Biomarkers and Their Role	6
2.2 Gene Polymorphism	6
2.3 Regulatory T cells (Tregs) and miRNAs	7
3. Clinical presentation of the condition	8
3.1 Kawasaki disease	8
3.1.1 Complete Kawasaki disease	8
3.1.2 Incomplete Kawasaki disease	8
3.2 Cardiac Manifestations	8
3.2.1 Coronary artery abnormalities	9
4. Diagnosis	9
4.1 Clinical Evaluation	9
4.1.2 Clinical Criteria for Complete Kawasaki disease	9
4.1.3 Evaluation of Suspected Incomplete Kawasaki disease	10
4.2 Laboratory Findings 1	12
4.2.1 Cardiac Biomarkers 1	12
4.3 Cardiovascular Evaluation1	13
4.3.1 Electrocardiogram1	13
4.3.2 Echocardiography 1	13
4.3.3 Classification of Coronary artery aneurysms1	13
4.3.4 Other Cardiovascular Imagining Modalities 1	15

5. Management	
5.1 Standard Therapy	
5.1.1 Intravenous Immunoglobulin	
5.1.2 Aspirin	
5.2. Adjunctive Therapies	
5.2.1 Corticosteroids	
5.2.2. Infliximab	
5.2.3. Anakinra	
5.3 Management and Prevention of Thrombosis	
5.3.1 Antiplatelet Therapy	
5.3.2 Anticoagulation Therapy	
5.3.3 Thrombolytic Therapy	
5.4 Prevention of Thrombosis	
6. Long-Term management	
7. Conclusion	
8. Reference	

Summary

This narrative review analyzes the existing literature on coronary artery syndrome in children with inflammatory heart disease, with a particular emphasis on Kawasaki disease. It delves into the underlying immunological and genetic mechanisms contributing to its pathogenesis, and outlines evaluation strategies. Additionally, it discusses therapeutic interventions, risk stratification for coronary aneurysms, and a preventive follow-up plan to minimize subsequent cardiac complications.

Kawasaki disease, known as the leading cause of acquired heart disease in children, brings with it serious complications, the most significant being coronary artery involvement. These complications predominantly present themselves as coronary artery dilatation, potentially progressing to the formation of coronary artery aneurysms. This issue raises serious concern due to the risk of life-threatening complications such as thrombosis, myocardial infarction, and even sudden cardiac death.

The severity and duration of coronary artery inflammation affect the likelihood of developing coronary artery syndrome. Promoting treatment initiation with intravenous immunoglobulin and aspirin within 10 days of the illness onset can reduce the risk of coronary artery abnormalities. However, some patients may not respond to this initial standard treatment and thereby require adjuvant therapy. Patients with resistance to intravenous immunoglobulin and those identified as having a high risk of developing coronary artery aneurysms may benefit from adjuvant treatment.

The thesis aims to provide a review of the current literature on coronary artery abnormalities in children with Kawasaki disease, while also identifying potential innovative diagnostic and therapeutic targets that could be integrated into future treatment approaches.

Keywords

Kawasaki disease, Corticosteroids, Aspirin, Intravenous immunoglobulin, Coronary artery aneurysms, Echocardiogram.

1. Introduction

Kawasaki disease (KD) is a systemic vasculitis that primarily affects medium-sized arteries and is the leading cause of acquired heart disease in children worldwide, with a risk of developing coronary artery aneurysms in approximately 25% of cases if left untreated [1]. In January 1961, the first case of a vasculitis was reported and later acknowledged and confirmed by Tomisaku Kawasaki, a Japanese pediatrician, in 1967, based on profiling 50 patients who exhibited a similar phenotype of the disease [2].

The global incidence of Kawasaki disease varies among different regions, with annual incidence rates per 100,000 children <5 years old ranging from 100 to 300 in Japan and northern Asia regions and ten times higher compared to the United States, where the incidence is about 25 per 100,000 children [1,3]. The disease affects mainly children below the age of five years and is more prevalent in males, with a ratio of 1.5:1 [1,4].

Despite the fact that the incidence of Kawasaki disease has been increasing worldwide, the etiology remains unknown. A variety of etiologies have been hypothesized, including environmental factors such as bacterial and viral infection [5] and genetic factors [6]. Recent studies have reported the role of the five immune genes that are potentially involved in the pathogenesis of Kawasaki disease.

Kawasaki disease-related databases (GSE18606, GSE68004, and GSE73641) have been downloaded and integrated into samples from 173 Kawasaki patients and 101 regular patients using the Gene Expression Omnibus Database. CIBERSORT was used to detect 22 samples with immune cells that were submitted to differentially expressed gene (DEG) analysis and weighted gene co-expression network analysis (WGCNA). The identification of five immune genes, including CXCL8, CCL5, CCR7, CXCR3, and CCR1, that contribute to the pathogenesis of the disease was facilitated by the co-expression networks and Cytoscape 39's cytoHubba tool [7].

The classical symptoms during the acute phase of the illness include fever (> 39C) lasting for more than five days, bilateral conjunctivitis, oral mucositis and/or erythematous tongue ("strawberry tongue"), polymorphous rash, unilateral cervical lymphadenopathy, and changes in the extremities, such as edema and/or peeling of hands and feet [8]. The diagnosis is mainly

clinical and further classified into complete and incomplete Kawasaki disease. Supportive laboratory tests include markers of systemic inflammation such as elevated levels of C-reactive protein (CRP) and erythrocyte sedimentation rate (ESR), increased white blood cell count (WBCs), hypoalbuminemia, elevated liver enzymes, elevated platelet count, and anemia [9,10].

Patients suspected of having Kawasaki disease should undergo 2-dimensional (2D) echocardiography, as coronary artery abnormalities can manifest as dilatation or aneurysms of varying sizes, numbers, and characteristics [9].

The mainstay treatment for Kawasaki disease involves administering high-dose intravenous immunoglobulin (IVIG) and aspirin; however, recent studies have found that corticosteroids, along with intravenous immunoglobulin and interleukin-1 (IL-1), like anakinra, when employed as adjunctive therapy, prevent the occurrence of coronary artery aneurysms in Kawasaki disease [11,12].

The aim of this thesis is to delve into the underlying mechanisms of coronary artery pathology in Kawasaki disease with the goal of identifying potential prognostic and therapeutic targets that could be incorporated into future treatment approaches.

1.1 Literature search strategy

For this thesis, I conducted a narrative review and devised a literature search strategy, outlined as follows:

- Databases searched: A search was conducted on numerous online databases including PubMed, Cochrane, Google scholar, ScienceDirect and Embase. The sources ranged from 2011 to 2023. The selection of articles was based according to their relevance to the research topic.
- Search String: ("Kawasaki disease" OR "mucocutaneous lymph node syndrome") AND ("Corticosteroids" OR "steroids") AND ("Aspirin" OR "acetylsalicylic acid") AND ("Intravenous immunoglobulin" OR "IVIG") AND ("Coronary artery aneurysms" OR "coronary artery abnormalities") AND ("Echocardiogram" OR "cardiac ultrasound").

2. Mechanism and Pathology

The etiology of the Kawasaki disease remains unclear, but it is postulated to be a result of an aberrant response to infectious triggers in genetically predisposed individuals, common in children of Asian descent, particularly Japanese ancestry [13].

Several studies have been undertaken to unravel the underlying mechanisms of coronary artery involvement in the pathogenesis of Kawasaki disease by emphasizing the role of genetic and immunological factors [14].

2.1 Protein Biomarkers and Their Role

Through the application of isobaric tags for relative and absolute quantitation (iTRAQ) analysis and western blot, several studies have identified five key proteins associated with coronary artery abnormalities in Kawasaki disease [7]:

(1) Mannose-binding lectin 2 (MBL2); (2) Complement factor H (CFH); (3) Kininogen 1 (KNG1); (4) Serpin family C member 1 (SERPINC1); and (5) Fibronectin 1 (FN1).

CFH and MBL2 have a unique role in the body as they control the proteolytic cleavage of C2 and C4. When levels of CFH and MBL2 drop, it results in an increase in C3b levels and a decrease in C2 and C4 separation, leading to innate inflammation, coronary artery pathology, and thrombosis. On the other hand, KNG1 and SERPINC1, which are present in coronary artery aneurysms (CAA), exhibit properties that reduce inflammation and prevent blood clotting. Decreased levels of these proteins result in inflammation and damage to the vascular endothelium, leading to artery dilatation and aneurysms. Fibronectin 1 (FN1), an extracellular glycoprotein, plays a crucial role in wound healing and processing. Decreased levels of this protein are found in both coronary artery disease (CAD) and CAA [7,15-18].

2.2 Gene Polymorphism

An important gene in the development of coronary artery lesions in Kawasaki disease is the inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphate 3-kinase (ITPKC) gene, which functions as a negative regulator of calcium channels and T cell activation. Genetic polymorphisms in the ITPKC gene can lead to mRNA splicing defects and hyper-activation of calcium channels. An important mutation, ITPKC3G/C, causes premature mRNA splicing, which results in an immature and truncated

protein. This mutated protein leads to a continuous phosphorylation process, triggering the release of calcium into the cytoplasm. This sequence of events culminates in the activation of calcineurin, which in turn triggers the transcription of genes involved in T cell activation and the release of inflammatory cytokines. Consequently, this leads to inflammation of the coronary artery and the formation of aneurysms, highlighting the significant role of the ITPKC gene in the pathogenesis of Kawasaki disease [19-21].

2.3 Regulatory T cells (Tregs) and miRNAs

The role of the transforming growth factor-beta (TGF-beta) gene in T cell activation and ventricular remodeling is particularly important. It is involved in several cellular processes, such as cell proliferation, migration, apoptosis, angiogenesis, calcification, and fibrosis. The gene activity is regulated by the FURIN and EMILIN (elastin microfibril interfacer-1) proteins. Alterations in certain genes can result in continuous transcription and remodeling of coronary endothelial cells, contributing to coronary artery aneurysm formation [22].

A recent study investigated the role of platelet and vascular smooth muscle cell (VSMC) interactions in Kawasaki disease. Using genome-wide miRNA and droplet digital PCR, the researchers enrolled 242 KD patients and 75 individuals with confirmed coronary artery involvement. The main findings were that KD patients showed significant induction of the microRNA miR-223, which promotes vascular smooth muscle cell (VSMC) de-differentiation and wound healing. However, in patients with severe coronary artery aneurysms, there was a lack of miR-223 induction, leading to persistent VSMC de-differentiation and severe coronary abnormalities. Using a mouse model, the absence of miR-223 caused extensive arterial damage, which could be mitigated by the transfer of platelets, administering miR-223 mimics, or using the platelet derived growth factor-beta (PDGFR-beta) inhibitor. In patients with Kawasaki disease who develop coronary artery aneurysms, blood samples reveal a decrease in miR-223 levels. This deficiency triggers a significant release of matrix metalloproteinases 9 (MMP9), a protein that can damage the coronary artery endothelium, leading to dilatation and aneurysm formation. Furthermore, miR-223 levels were found to increase with age, explaining the higher susceptibility to coronary pathology in children under five years old. The detection of microRNA miR-223 can help identify KD patients at greatest risk of coronary involvement, and targeting miR-223 or VSMC PDGFR-beta could offer a potential therapeutic strategy for KD

[23].

3. Clinical presentation of the condition

3.1 Kawasaki disease

Kawasaki disease is an acute, self-limited systemic vasculitis of mainly medium-sized arteries, particularly the coronary arteries [24]. KD is a febrile illness that mainly affects children younger than 5 years old, with a male gender predominance at a ratio of 1.5:1 [1,14]. There are two forms of the condition, complete and incomplete.

3.1.1 Complete Kawasaki disease

The clinical presentation of complete type of Kawasaki disease is involves the presence of a fever lasts for more than 5 days along with typical signs and symptoms, including a fever (>39 C) that lasts for more than five days and meets at least four of the five following signs and symptoms: (1) bilateral non-exudative conjunctivitis; (2) erythema of the lips and oral mucosa; (3) rashes; (4) changes in the extremities; and (5) cervical lymphadenopathy [24,25].

3.1.2 Incomplete Kawasaki disease

Incomplete Kawasaki disease (iKD) is more common in infants <6 months old, and children older than 10 years present with a prolonged fever lasting five or more days along with two or three of the aforementioned classical signs and symptoms. In infants, signs of irritability are observed [26].

3.2 Cardiac Manifestations

During the acute episode of Kawasaki disease, children commonly present with a hyperdynamic precordium and tachycardia. These symptoms are indicative of myocardial inflammation and decreased cardiac output, which can lead to poor perfusion and potentially result in congestive heart failure. In rare cases, murmurs and a gallop rhythm can be observed in children, suggesting myocarditis or left ventricular dysfunction. Pericarditis may be present, and clinical signs of pericardial tamponade or a pericardial rub may be apparent, although it is very rare and typically mild and transient [1,11]. Valvular dysfunction, specifically affecting the mitral and aortic valves, has also been observed in children with KD during the acute episode [1].

3.2.1 Coronary artery abnormalities

Coronary artery abnormalities, such as dilatation or the formation of aneurysms, can be considered a specific supportive criterion for the diagnosis of KD, particularly in cases of incomplete KD. These abnormalities are defined based on the luminal dimensions of the coronary arteries, which can be detected by echocardiography [1,9]. Dilatations often resolve within 4-8 weeks, although in some cases it may persist or worsen [1]. Patients with severe coronary artery involvement, such as large or giant aneurysms, are at higher risk of developing major adverse cardiovascular events, such as stenosis, thromboses, and myocardial infarction [27,28]. Those patients may not exhibit any cardiac signs and symptoms unless myocardial ischemia occurs due to severe disturbances in coronary artery blood flow or thromboses. In infants, the clinical signs and symptoms of myocardial ischemia can be atypical and nonspecific, making diagnosis and treatment more challenging [1].

4. Diagnosis

4.1 Clinical Evaluation

4.1.2 Clinical Criteria for Complete Kawasaki disease

According to the 2017 AHA guidelines, the diagnosis of Kawasaki disease relies primarily on clinical manifestations. A diagnosis of complete Kawasaki disease can be made when a patient has a fever (> 39 C) lasting for five or more days and meets at least four of the five following clinical criteria [1]:

- Bilateral conjunctival injection without exudate.
- Changes in the lips and oral cavity, including injected pharynx, strawberry tongue, and/or lip cracking and/or erythema.
- Polymorphous rash.
- Cervical lymphadenopathy, usually unilateral and at least one lymph node ≥1.5 cm in diameter.
- Changes in the extremities, such as redness, swelling, and/or peeling of the hands and feet, or periungual desquamation.

If more than four of the principal clinical criteria are present, distinctly when redness and swelling of the hands and feet are present, the diagnosis of KD can be established earlier with only four days of fever. However, differential diagnosis is crucial because other conditions may present with similar symptoms. If a child has an unexplained fever lasting more than five days along with the principal clinical signs and symptoms, other conditions should also be considered [1,9].

The presence of aneurysms, identified by echocardiography, can be definitive for a Kawasaki disease diagnosis. On the other hand, coronary artery dilatation is typically not seen until after the first week of the disease and therefore, does not rule out KD, especially in the early stages of the condition [1].

4.1.3 Evaluation of Suspected Incomplete Kawasaki disease

Incomplete Kawasaki disease (iKD) is a diagnostic challenge, particularly in infants and those lacking oral and eye mucosal changes [1]. Children and infants with incomplete form of Kawasaki disease, increase the risk of delayed diagnosis and subsequent complications such as coronary artery abnormalities. Diagnostic echocardiography should be considered in infants younger than 6 months with unknown causes of fever for > 7 days and laboratory evidence of systemic inflammation and irritability [1,29]. An echocardiogram may reveal signs of coronary vasculitis, which would support a diagnosis of KD. However, the absence of suggestive findings, does not necessarily rule out KD [1,29-31].

The 2017 AHA guidelines provide a framework for considering the diagnosis of incomplete Kawasaki disease (Figure 1). The guidelines suggest that the diagnosis of iKD should be considered in all children and infants with unexplained, prolonged fever, those who exhibit less than four of the principal clinical manifestations, and laboratory or echocardiographic findings suggestive of KD [1].



Figure 1. Evaluation of suspected incomplete Kawasaki disease [1]

Figure 1. Evaluation of suspected incomplete Kawasaki disease [1]: positive echocardiography indicates if any of 3 conditions are met: (1) Z score of left anterior descending artery or right coronary artery \geq 2.5; (2) presence of coronary artery aneurysm; (3) \geq 3 other suggestive features like decreased left ventricular function, mitral regurgitation, pericardial effusion, or Z scores in left anterior descending coronary artery or right coronary artery of 2 to 2.5. Positive laboratory signs represent elevated CRP (C-reactive protein), ESR (erythrocyte sedimentation rate). ALT- alanine transaminase; and WBC-white blood cells.

This algorithm is meant to guide clinicians in determining the need for treatment in patients with suspected iKD. However, the algorithm is not designed to differentiate Kawasaki disease from other febrile illness [23].

4.2 Laboratory Findings

Kawasaki disease, despite lacking a definitive diagnostic laboratory test, can be supported through a range of laboratory investigations, especially in the context of patients exhibiting atypical clinical manifestations of the disease.

The 2017 American Heart Association (AHA) guideline proposes that nonspecific laboratory findings of raised inflammatory markers, including erythrocyte sedimentation rate (ESR), C-reactive protein (CRP), and platelet count, should be considered as potential indicators for evaluating incomplete KD [1].

In the acute phase of KD, a complete blood count often reveals leukocytosis with a count exceeding 15,000/mm3 and a predominance of neutrophils. Supplementary laboratory findings may reveal anemia by age, with hemoglobin levels falling below the age-specific reference range, hypoalbuminemia (< 3.0 mg/dl), hyponatremia (< 130 mmol/L), platelets count > 450,000/mm3 after day 7 of illness, and elevated liver enzymes [1,8,10,28]. Urinalysis often shows sterile pyuria (>10 WBC/HPF) [1].

Thrombocytosis is a common occurrence in patients with Kawasaki disease, typically manifesting within the second to third week of the disease course. The platelet count may continue to increase in the subacute phase of the illness, but typically resolves by 4 to 6 weeks after onset [1,28,32]. Thereby escalating the risk for development of coronary artery abnormalities [8,32].

4.2.1 Cardiac Biomarkers

N-terminal pro Brain Natriuretic peptide (NT-proBNP), has been identified as potentially useful in detecting myocardial involvement in some patients with KD, particularly during the acute phase when NT-proBNP levels are known to increase [1,33]. Furthermore, elevated levels of NT-proBNP are associated with the development of coronary artery aneurysms and can serve as a predictor for intravenous immunoglobulin resistance in patients with KD [33].

Moreover, several studies and meta-analyses have provided evidence supporting the use of NTproBNP as a diagnostic marker [33-36]. While NT-proBNP may have limitations due to its nonspecificity and the absence of definitive threshold values, its potential usefulness justifies further research to explore its value in diagnostics and treatment protocols together with other clinical criteria and laboratory findings [33-38].

4.3 Cardiovascular Evaluation

4.3.1 Electrocardiogram

In the acute phase of Kawasaki disease, electrocardiogram (ECG) findings may include PRinterval prolongation, and QT-interval prolongation, non-specific ST and T-wave changes [1,39]. QT dispersion abnormalities may persist for several months, and the persistence of repolarization abnormalities during follow-up may indicate a higher risk of ventricular arrhythmia, even in the absence of obvious echocardiographic abnormalities. [39,40]. ECG findings such as ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction, non-ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction, and unstable angina are indicators for acute coronary syndrome.

4.3.2 Echocardiography

Echocardiography is crucial for monitoring cardiac complications in the acute phase of Kawasaki disease in children. Although two-dimensional echocardiography is the preferred imaging method, a normal examination cannot completely rule out a diagnosis of KD. However, if there are any changes in the echocardiography, the diagnosis becomes more certain. It is advisable to perform frequent echocardiography examinations during the initial days of the disease and repeat them at the time of discharge and after two weeks. It is important to note that a normal baseline echocardiogram within the first 7 days does not necessarily rule out the possibility of the later development of coronary artery aneurysms [1,26]. Guidelines recommend echocardiography in Kawasaki disease at baseline, 1 to 2 weeks, and 4 to 6 weeks after treatment to monitor coronary artery abnormalities [1].

4.3.3 Classification of Coronary artery aneurysms

The American Heart Association (AHA) 2017 and Japanese Circulation Society (JCS/JSCS) 2020 classified aneurysms, utilizing the Z-score (Table 1) [1,13]:

Table 1. Classifications of coronary artery aneurysms in American Heart Association and

 Japanese Circulation Society guidelines [1,13]

A) American Heart Association (AHA) 2017 classification [1]:

- 1. No involvement: Z score always <2
- 2. Dilation only: Z score 2 to <2.5; or if initially <2, a decrease in Z score during follow-up of ≥ 1
- 3. Small aneurysm: Z score \geq 2.5 and <5
- 4. Medium aneurysm: Z score \geq 5 and <10, or absolute dimension <8 mm
- 5. Large aneurysm: Z score ≥ 10 , or absolute dimension $\geq 8 \text{ mm}$

B) Japanese Circulation Society (JCS) 2020 Classification [13]:

1. Acute Phase (<30 days):

1.1 For patients under 5 years old:

- Small aneurysm: <4mm inner diameter of coronary artery
- Medium aneurysm: >4mm to \leq 8mm inner diameter of coronary artery
- Large aneurysm: >8mm inner diameter of coronary artery

1.2 For patients above 5 years old:

- Small aneurysm: Z score ≥ 2.5 to <5
- Medium aneurysm: Z score ≥ 5 to <10
- Giant aneurysm: Z score ≥ 10

2. Severity classification after 1 month:

- 1. No dilation change: No change in the dilation of coronary arteries including the acute phase
- 2. Transient dilation (in the acute phase): mild transient dilation that normalizes by 1 month after onset
- 3. Regression: complicated with coronary artery lesion beyond 1 month from onset, and bilateral coronary artery findings completely normalize during follow-up, and did not fall into group 5
- 4. Remaining coronary aneurysms: coronary aneurysms on one or both sides on coronary angiography but do not fall into group 5
- 5. Coronary artery stenotic lesion: Coronary angiography shows a stenotic lesion in the coronary artery
 - Without ischemic findings in various tests
 - With ischemic findings in various tests

Table 1. Classifications of coronary artery aneurysms in American Heart Association and Japanese Circulation Society guidelines: compares the American Heart Association (AHA) 2017 and Japanese Circulation Society (JCS) 2020 guidelines for classifications of coronary artery aneurysms in Kawasaki disease [1,13]. While the American Heart Association uses Z-scores and absolute dimensions to categorize aneurysm size, the Japanese Circulation Society uses either inner diameter or Z-scores, depending on patient age. Additionally, the JCS incorporates dilatation changes, condition regression, remaining aneurysms, and stenotic lesions, thereby reflecting the disease time course and severity.

Studies have shown that the clinical outcome of patients with giant coronary artery aneurysms (CAAs) with a Z-score of >10 or measured values of >8 mm is worse compared to those with

small aneurysms of <5 mm in size. Patients with large or giant aneurysms are at a higher risk of serious complications such as thrombosis, myocardial infarction, and sudden cardiac death [1].

4.3.4 Other Cardiovascular Imagining Modalities

Advanced imaging modalities such as transesophageal echocardiography (TEE), invasive angiography, cardiac magnetic resonance imaging (CMRI), and computed tomography angiography (CTA) are generally not used as the initial diagnostic procedure for acute illness due to their invasiveness or radiation exposure [1,11]. While echocardiography is considered the gold standard for detecting coronary aneurysms in the acute phase of Kawasaki disease within the first six weeks, more advanced imaging modalities may be necessary in some cases to evaluate the vascular system for accurate risk stratification [41].

In cases where echocardiographic evaluation is limited due to factors such as thrombi or stenosis or if the resolution is inadequate in older children and adolescents, the following advanced modalities could be indicated [11]:

- CT coronary angiogram is performed to determine the size of giant aneurysms detected in the proximal or distal coronary segments by echocardiography, assess the distal segments, and detect the presence of thrombi or stenosis in the coronary arteries.
- Cardiac MRI is performed in patients with a risk level above 3 or in patients with suspected associated myocarditis.
- Cardiac catheterization is typically reserved for patients with a positive evaluation of myocardial ischemia or if there are clinical or echocardiographic changes suggestive of acute coronary disease.

5. Management

5.1 Standard Therapy

5.1.1 Intravenous Immunoglobulin

Once a diagnosis of KD is confirmed, it is well established that prompt administration of IVIG during the acute phase can effectively decrease inflammation and minimize the risk of developing

coronary artery abnormalities [1,10,11,30]. The recommended dosage is a single infusion of 2g/kg given intravenously over a period of 12 hours, preferably within the first 7 days of illness onset [1,10,11]. It is unclear whether IVIG treatment is effective after day 10 of illness. In cases where children are diagnosed late or have incomplete KD, IVIG treatment should be considered if there is unexplained persistent fever, the presence of aneurysms, or ongoing systematic inflammation indicated by elevated ESR or CRP levels [10,11].

5.1.2 Aspirin

The current guidelines suggest a combination of aspirin and intravenous immunoglobulins during the acute phase of KD. The recommended dose of aspirin is 80mg/kg per day, divided every six hours, and continued for 14 days. After the fever subsides, the dose of aspirin is typically reduced to an antiplatelet dose of 3-5 mg/kg per day and continued for 6–8 weeks or until there is no evidence of coronary artery abnormalities on echocardiography [1,30]. For patients with persistent coronary aneurysms during the convalescent phase, it is recommended to continue low-dose aspirin (3-5 mg/kg per day) until the aneurysms have resolved. It is important to consider the individual risk-benefit ratio when deciding on long-term aspirin therapy (3-5 mg/kg per day) for patients with regressed CAA [30].

5.2. Adjunctive Therapies

The primary treatment for KD is intravenous immunoglobulin combined with high-dose aspirin. However, some patients do not respond to this initial therapy, necessitating adjunctive treatments to reduce the risk of complications.

5.2.1 Corticosteroids

Corticosteroids have long been considered for use in Kawasaki patients due to their potent antiinflammatory and immunosuppressive properties, with the aim of preventing the potential risk of coronary artery aneurysm development. However, the use of corticosteroids as a first- or secondline treatment remains a topic of debate, as studies have reported conflicting results based on factors such as patient selection (all patients versus high-risk patients) and ethnicity [41].

Recent studies, including a systematic review and meta-analysis, have reinforced the effectiveness of corticosteroids as part of the initial treatment strategy for KD, particularly for high-risk patients who are prone to developing coronary artery aneurysms and those who are

resistant to IVIG therapy. This approach has shown significant benefits, such as a reduced risk of coronary artery abnormalities and coronary aneurysms, faster resolution of fever, shortened duration of clinical symptoms, and faster normalization of lab parameters. These studies have highlighted that adding corticosteroids to IVIG therapy as an initial treatment for high-risk patients with KD can reduce the risk of CAA without increasing the incidence of adverse events. [42,43].

5.2.2. Infliximab

Infliximab, an antibody that targets tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF- α), has been employed as an adjunctive therapy for Kawasaki disease patients who are either prone to resistance to intravenous immunoglobulin or who have not shown a response to the initial IVIG regimen [1]. Its application as a complementary treatment to primary therapy is reported to be safe; however, it does not improve coronary outcomes. Administering infliximab was linked with shorter hospital stays and reduced fever duration, but not with an incidence of coronary artery abnormalities or adverse events [11]. The suggested regime is 6 mg/kg given intravenously over a span of 2 hours, with 1-2 doses given (if two doses are used, they should be administered weekly) [1,11,41].

5.2.3. Anakinra

Anakinra is a recombinant human interleukin-1 receptor antagonist (IL-1RA) that blocks the biological activity of interleukin-1 (IL-1), which is a pro-inflammatory cytokine, by competitively inhibiting its binding to the interleukin-1 (IL-1) receptor, thereby down-regulating the IL-1 mediated inflammatory response [1,41].

Recent case reports and clinical trials have demonstrated the successful use of anakinra in patients with KD highly refractory to conventional treatment [12,44-50]. Anakinra has been associated with a decrease in the duration of fever and serum marker levels as well as improved short-term coronary outcomes; therefore, it should be considered for the rescue of patients that do not respond to conventional treatment [11,12,44-50].

Maggio et al.,[46] reported KD in siblings following parvovirus infection. The younger sibling developed incomplete KD and a coronary artery aneurysm despite treatment with IVIG. Anakinra administration led to improved clinical conditions and a reduction in aneurysm size.

In a case series by Kone-Paul et al.,[47] anakinra was administered to 11 KD patients (nine with complete KD and two with incomplete KD) who deteriorated despite primary and secondary treatment regimens. The use of anakinra led to the resolution of fever and inflammation and a reduction in aneurysm size in these patients.

Guillaume et al.,[48] presented the case of an 18-year-old boy with typical KD who developed aneurysms despite treatment with IVIG and methylprednisolone. The initiation of anakinra on the 25th day of illness led to a reduction in C-reactive protein levels and the size of aneurysms.

The case studies reviewed suggest that anakinra could be a promising therapeutic option for managing refractory KD and preventing the progression or development of aneurysms. However, larger-scale, controlled studies are necessary to confirm these findings and establish the optimal dosage and duration of treatment with anakinra in patients with KD.

5.3 Management and Prevention of Thrombosis

5.3.1 Antiplatelet Therapy

The use of antiplatelet agents, such as aspirin (acetylsalicylic acid) and clopidogrel (a thienopyridine), is standard therapy for patients with coronary aneurysms. For small coronary artery aneurysms, low-dose acetylsalicylic acid (ASA) alone is usually adequate. But when it comes to moderately large or giant aneurysms, combination therapy is preferred. For patients with moderate aneurysms, ASA may be combined with a thienopyridine like clopidogrel [1,11,41].

5.3.2 Anticoagulation Therapy

For patients with large or giant aneurysms who are at a higher risk of thrombosis due to abnormal flow conditions and stasis, a combination of antiplatelet and anticoagulant therapy is often employed. This commonly includes low-dose ASA along with warfarin (with an International Normalized Ratio or INR target of 2.0 to 3.0) or low-molecular-weight heparin (LMWH). Warfarin's use may be challenging in infants; thus, LMWH is often preferred. LMWH may also be used in older children when INR cannot be adequately controlled [1,41].

The anti-inflammatory properties of LMWH could provide added advantages during the acute phase of Kawasaki disease, although transient low levels of antithrombin during acute illness can

affect the antithrombotic action of LMWH [1,41]. To ensure that anticoagulation is adequate, activated factor Xa levels are monitored. The therapeutic range is typically between 0.5 and 1.0. If these levels are not reached despite appropriate dosing of LMWH, the next step is to assess antithrombin levels. This is particularly important in patients with coronary artery aneurysms due to Kawasaki disease, where achieving the correct balance of anticoagulation is critical. If antithrombin deficiency is detected, fresh-frozen plasma or antithrombin supplementation can be considered [1]. These interventions can help raise antithrombin levels, potentially enhancing the effectiveness of LMWH. However, they must be used with care due to the increased risk of bleeding, and it is critical to continue monitoring both activated factor Xa and antithrombin levels as well as for any signs of bleeding or thrombosis.

5.3.3 Thrombolytic Therapy

Tissue plasminogen activator (tPA), specifically alteplase, is the first-choice thrombolytic therapy in children with coronary artery aneurysms and subsequent thrombosis. However, tPA is contraindicated in patients with active bleeding or who have recently undergone surgery or trauma [1,35]. Alteplase, used cautiously in this context, has various dosing regimens, including a low-dose protocol combined with abciximab, a platelet aggregation inhibitor [1]. Unfractionated heparin (UFH) is continued at an age-appropriate dose during alteplase administration, which can be given as an intermittent or continuous infusion or targeted locally towards the thrombus [11,32]. After treatment, imaging is used to reassess the thrombus, and careful patient monitoring is essential due to the risk of both major and minor bleeding events [1]. The use of alteplase requires individualized dosing, meticulous monitoring, and a multidisciplinary medical team experienced in pediatric anticoagulation management.

5.4 Prevention of Thrombosis

The 2017 American Heart Association (AHA) guidelines for the prevention of thrombosis during the acute phase of Kawasaki disease recommend the following [1]:

Low-dose ASA (Aspirin): For patients without evidence of coronary artery changes, it is
recommended to administer low-dose ASA (3–5 mg/kg per day) until 4 to 6 weeks after
the onset of illness.

- Systemic Anticoagulation: For patients with rapidly expanding coronary artery aneurysms or a maximum Z score of ≥10, it is reasonable to administer systemic anticoagulation with low molecular weight Heparin (LMWH) or warfarin (with an international normalized ratio target of 2.0–3.0) in addition to low-dose ASA.
- Triple Therapy: For patients at an increased risk of thrombosis, for instance, those with large or giant aneurysms (≥8 mm or Z score ≥10) and a recent history of coronary artery thrombosis, "triple therapy" may be considered. This involves ASA, a second antiplatelet agent, and anticoagulation with warfarin or LMWH.

6. Long-Term management

Cardiac complications are the most serious concern for patients with Kawasaki disease. These complications primarily manifest as coronary artery aneurysms, which can lead to myocardial infarction or ischemic heart disease [1,24]. The 2017 American Heart Association (AHA) guidelines provided a comprehensive framework follow-up plan to facilitate early detection and prevention of these cardiac complications (Table 2).

Table 2. Risk classification of coronary aneurysms and follow-up recommendations for children

 with Kawasaki disease according to 2017 American Heart Association (AHA) guidelines [1]:

Risk Level	Pharmacological therapy	Physical activity	Follow-up plan
Level I No Involvement (Z Score <2)	 ASA 3–5 mg/kg until 6 weeks No additional medical therapy after first 6 to 8 weeks 	 Physical activity counselling at each visit. Healthy lifestyle counselling every 1 year. 	• ECG, Echocardiography, History and physical examination between 4 weeks to 12 months.
Level II Dilation only (Z score 2 to <2.5)	 Consider continuing ASA 3–5 mg/kg if dilation persists 	 Physical activity counselling at each visit. Healthy lifestyle counselling every 1 year. 	 ECG, Echocardiography, History and physical examination between 4 weeks to 12 months. If dilatation persists reassess every 2 to 5 years.
Level III Small aneurysm (Z score >2.5 to <5)	 Low-dose aspirin at 3-5 mg/kg/day until aneurysm regression documented Consider statin administration 	 Patient age <11years: No restriction after first 6-8 weeks. Patients >11years: Physical activity guided by biennial stress test, Discouraged contact or high- impact sports as patients on antiplatelet 	 ECG, Echocardiography, History and physical examination at 6 months if dilatation persists. Cardiac stress imaging every 2 to 3 years, if dilatation persists 3 to 5 years.
Level IV Medium aneurysm (Z score >5 to <10, and absolute dimension <8mm)	 Low-dose aspirin at 3-5 mg/kg/day Consider anticoagulation therapy (LMWH) or dual antiplatelet (clopidogrel) therapy if aneurysms persist; If aneurysms regress consider statins 	 Avoid contact or high-impact sports; Physical activity recommended according to stress test or myocardial perfusion scan outcome 	 ECG, Echocardiography, History and physical examination at 3,6,12 months, if dilatation persists then every 6 to 12 months. Cardiac stress imaging every 1 to 3 years, if dilatation persists 2 to 5 years.
Level V Large and giant aneurysm (Z score >10, or absolute dimension >8mm)	 Long-term low-dose aspirin and warfarin or LMWH if giant aneurysm persists; Consider use of tPA, β- blockers, statins and ACE inhibitors 	 Avoid contact or high-impact sports; Physical activity recommended according to stress test or myocardial perfusion scan outcome 	 ECG, Echocardiography, History and physical examination at 3,6,9,12 months, if dilatation persists then every 3 to 6 months. Cardiac stress imaging every 1 to 3 years, if dilatation persists 2 to 5 years.

Table 2. Risk classification of coronary aneurysms and follow-up recommendations for children with Kawasaki disease according to 2017 American Heart Association (AHA) guidelines [1]: Level I - no coronary artery changes at any stage of illness; Level II- transient coronary artery ectasia that disappears within 6-8 weeks; Level III- one small-medium coronary artery aneurysm/major coronary artery; Level IV- >5 large or giant coronary artery aneurysm, or multiple or complex aneurysms in same coronary artery, without Obstruction; Level V- coronary artery obstruction. ASA- acetylsalicylic acid; ACE- angiotensin-converting enzyme; ECG- electrocardiogram; LMWH-low molecular-weight heparin; TPA- Tissue plasminogen activator.

7. Conclusion

This narrative review provides an overview of the current literature on coronary artery syndrome in children with Kawasaki disease.

The aim of this review was to explore insights into the pathogenesis of coronary artery development in Kawasaki disease and identify potential diagnostic and therapeutic targets that could be incorporated into prospective treatment paradigms.

The review has shown the potential utility of the N-terminal pro B-type natriuretic peptide biomarker for the identification of coronary artery aneurysms and for discerning resistance to intravenous immunoglobulin therapy, particularly during the acute phase when levels are typically elevated. Future research endeavors should focus on discerning the prognostic capabilities of this biomarker with a view to enhancing its sensitivity when assessing patients with Kawasaki disease.

Therapeutic strategies encompassing intravenous immunoglobulins, aspirin, corticosteroids, and adjuvant agents such as interleukin-1 receptor antagonists, specifically anakinra, were also explored in the review. Evidence suggests that anakinra can effectively minimize the likelihood of coronary aneurysms and manage refractory Kawasaki disease in pediatric patients.

Moreover, the microRNA miR-223 exhibits promise in identifying those Kawasaki disease patients at highest risk of coronary artery pathology. Utilizing miR-223 and platelet-derived growth factor-beta inhibitors as potential therapeutic targets may represent an innovative treatment strategy for Kawasaki disease patients with coronary artery aneurysms. However, it is important to note that till now it has only been examined in vitro; therefore, controlled studies and trials are required to establish the prognostic and therapeutic value of miR-223 and the platelet-derived growth factor-beta inhibitors.

These comprehensive investigations are expected to shed light on the intricate processes that govern the development of coronary artery syndrome in children with Kawasaki disease. Understanding these processes is critical, not only to enhance our knowledge of the disease but also to guide the design and implementation of effective, patient-specific interventions.

8. Reference

- McCrindle BW, Rowley AH, Newburger JW, et al. Diagnosis, treatment, and long-term management of Kawasaki disease: a scientific statement for health professionals from the American Heart Association. Circulation 2017; 135:e927-99. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/28356445/
- Burns JC. History of the worldwide emergence of Kawasaki disease. Int J Rheum Dis. 2018; 21:13-15. Available from: <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/29152909/</u>
- Elakabawi K, Lin J, Jiao F, Guo N, Yuan Z. Kawasaki Disease: Global Burden and Genetic Background. Cardiol Res. 2020 Feb;11(1):9–14. Available from: <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/32095191/</u>
- Makino N, Nakamura Y, Yashiro M, et al. Epidemiological observations of Kawasaki disease in Japan, 2013-2014. Pediatr Int. 2018; 60:581-87. Available from: <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/29498791/</u>
- Ouldali N, Pouletty M, Mariani P, Beyler C, Blachier A, Bonacorsi S, et al. Emergence of Kawasaki disease related to SARS-CoV-2 infection in an epicentre of the French COVID-19 epidemic: a time-series analysis. Lancet Child Adolesc Health. 2020 Sep;4(9):662–8. Available from: <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/32622376/</u>
- Onouchi Y. The genetics of Kawasaki disease. Int J Rheum Dis. 2018 Jan;21(1):26–30. Available from: <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/29152908/</u>
- Nie H, Wang S, Wu Q, Xue D, Zhou W. Five immune-gene-signatures participate in the development and pathogenesis of Kawasaki disease. Immun Inflamm Dis. 2021; 9:157-66. Available from: <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC7860604/</u>
- Zhu F, Ang JY. 2021 Update on the Clinical Management and Diagnosis of Kawasaki Disease. Curr Infect Dis Rep. 2021; 23(3):3. Available from: <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/35194409/</u>
- Lee W, Cheah CS, Suhaini SA, et al. Clinical Manifestations and Laboratory Findings of Kawasaki Disease: Beyond the Classic Diagnostic Features. Medicina (Kaunas). 2022; 58(6):734. Available from: <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/35743997/</u>

- Kuo HC, Yang KD, Chang WC, Ger LP, Hsieh KS. Kawasaki disease: an update on diagnosis and treatment. Pediatr Neonatol. 2012; 53:4-11. Available from: <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/22348488/</u>
- Barrios Tascón A, Centeno Malfaz F, Rojo Sombrero H, Fernández-Cooke E, Sánchez-Manubens J, Pérez-Lescure Picarzo J, et al. National consensus on the cardiological treatment and follow-up of Kawasaki disease. Anales de Pediatría (English Edition).
 2018 Sep 1;89(3):188.e1-188.e22. Available from: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S2341287918301406#sec0015
- 12. Sánchez-Manubens J, Gelman A, Franch N, Teodoro S, Palacios JR, Rudi N, et al. A child with resistant Kawasaki disease successfully treated with anakinra: a case report. BMC Pediatr. 2017 Apr 8;17(1):102. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/28390409/
- Fukazawa R, Kobayashi J, Ayusawa M, et al. JCS/JSCS 2020 guideline on diagnosis and management of cardiovascular sequelae in Kawasaki disease. Circ J. 2020; 84:1348-407. Available from: <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/32641591/</u>
- 14. Rajasekaran K, Duraiyarasan S, Adefuye M, et al. Kawasaki Disease and Coronary Artery Involvement: A Narrative Review. Cureus 2022; 14(8): e28358. Available from: <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/36185934/</u>
- Brunel H, Massanet R, Martinez-Perez A, et al. The central role of kng1 gene as a genetic determinant of coagulation pathway-related traits: exploring meta phenotypes. PLoS One. 2016; 11:e0167187. Available from: <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/28005926/</u>
- 16. Agarwal S, Agrawal DK. Kawasaki disease: etiopathogenesis and novel treatment strategies. Expert Rev Clin Immunol. 2017; 13:247-58. Available from: <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/27590181/</u>
- 17. Cooper PC, Coath F, Daly ME, Makris M. The phenotypic and genetic assessment of antithrombin deficiency. Int J Lab Hematol. 2011 Jun;33(3):227–37. Avaiable from: <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/21401902/</u>
- 18. Kuo H chang, Chang W chiao. Genetic polymorphisms in Kawasaki disease. Acta Pharmacol Sin. 2011 Oct;32(10):1193–8. Available from: <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/21892198/</u>

- Wang W, Lou J, Zhong R, Qi Y qi, Shen N, Lu X zai, et al. The roles of Ca2+/NFAT signaling genes in Kawasaki disease: single- and multiple-risk genetic variants. Sci Rep. 2014 Jun 6;4:5208. Available from: <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/24903211/</u>
- 20. Chaudhary H, Nameirakpam J, Kumrah R, Pandiarajan V, Suri D, Rawat A, et al. Biomarkers for Kawasaki Disease: Clinical Utility and the Challenges Ahead. Front Pediatr. 2019;7:242. Available from: <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/31275907/</u>
- 21. Shimizu C, Jain S, Davila S, Hibberd ML, Lin KO, Molkara D, et al. Transforming growth factor-beta signaling pathway in patients with Kawasaki disease. Circ Cardiovasc Genet. 2011 Feb;4(1):16–25. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/21127203/
- 22. Zhang Y, Wang Y, Zhang L, Xia L, Zheng M, Zeng Z, et al. Reduced Platelet miR-223 Induction in Kawasaki Disease Leads to Severe Coronary Artery Pathology Through a miR-223/PDGFRβ Vascular Smooth Muscle Cell Axis. Circ Res. 2020 Sep 11;127(7):855–73. Available from: <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/32597702/</u>
- Scherler L, Haas NA, Tengler A, Pattathu J, Mandilaras G, Jakob A. Acute phase of Kawasaki disease: a review of national guideline recommendations. Eur J Pediatr. 2022 Jul 1;181(7):2563–73. Available from: <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/35403975/</u>
- 24. Harnden A, Tulloh R, Burgner D. Kawasaki disease. BMJ 2014; 349:g5336. Available from: <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/25230954/</u>
- 25. Darby JB, Jackson JM. Kawasaki disease and multisystem inflammatory syndrome in children: An overview and comparison. Am Fam Physician. 2021; 104(3):244-52. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/34523885/
- 26. Singh S, Jindal AK, Pilania RK. Diagnosis of Kawasaki disease. Int J Rheum Dis. 2018 Jan;21(1):36–44. Available from: <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/29131549/</u>
- 27. Santimahakullert K, Vijarnsorn C, Wongswadiwat Y, et al. A retrospective cohort study of major adverse cardiac events in children affected by Kawasaki disease with coronary artery aneurysms in Thailand. PLoS One. 2022; 17(1):e0263060. Available from: <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/35085339/</u>
- 28. Zhu FH, Ang JY: The clinical diagnosis and management of Kawasaki disease: a review and update. Curr Infect Dis Rep. 2016; 18:32. Available from: <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/27681743/</u>

- Eleftheriou D, Levin M, Shingadia D, et al. Management of Kawasaki disease. Arch Dis Child 2014; 99:74-83. Available from: <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/24162006/</u>
- 30. de Graeff N, Groot N, Ozen S, Eleftheriou D, Avcin T, Bader-Meunier B, et al. European consensus-based recommendations for the diagnosis and treatment of Kawasaki disease the SHARE initiative. Rheumatology (Oxford). 2019 Apr 1;58(4):672–82. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/30535127/
- 31. Mossberg M, Mohammad AJ, Kahn F, Segelmark M, Kahn R. High risk of coronary artery aneurysm in Kawasaki disease. Rheumatology (Oxford). 2021; 60(4):1910-14. Available from: <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/33150451/</u>
- 32. Arora K, Guleria S, Jindal AK, Rawat A, Singh S. Platelets in Kawasaki disease: Is this only a numbers game or something beyond? Genes Dis. 2019 Sep 12;7(1):62–6. Available from: <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/32181276/</u>
- 33. Lee SH, Song ES, Yoon S, Hong S, Cho HJ, Yang EM, et al. Usefulness of Age-Stratified N-Terminal Prohormone of Brain Natriuretic Peptide for Diagnosing Kawasaki Disease. Dis Markers. 2017; 2017:6263121. Available from: <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5735642/</u>
- 34. Shiraishi M, Fuse S, Mori T, Doyama A, Honjyo S, Hoshino Y, et al. N-terminal probrain natriuretic Peptide as a useful diagnostic marker of acute Kawasaki disease in children. Circ J. 2013;77(8):2097–101. Available from: <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/23615024/</u>
- 35. Cho SY, Kim Y, Cha SH, Suh JT, Han MY, Lee HJ. Adjuvant laboratory marker of Kawasaki disease; NT-pro-BNP or hs-CRP? Ann Clin Lab Sci. 2011;41(4):360–3. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/22166506/
- 36. Zheng X, Zhang Y, Liu L, Yue P, Wang C, Zhou K, et al. N-terminal pro-brain natriuretic peptide as a biomarker for predicting coronary artery lesion of Kawasaki disease. Sci Rep. 2020 Mar 20;10(1):5130. Available from: <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/32198398/</u>
- 37. Kimura Y, Yanagimachi M, Ino Y, et al. Identification of candidate diagnostic serum biomarkers for Kawasaki disease using proteomic analysis. Sci Rep. 2017; 7:43732. Available from: <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/28262744/</u>

- 38. Rife E, Gedalia A. Kawasaki Disease: an Update. Curr Rheumatol Rep. 2020;22(10):75. Available from: <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC7487199/</u>
- Pilania RK, Jindal AK, Bhattarai D, Naganur SH, Singh S. Cardiovascular Involvement in Kawasaki Disease Is Much More Than Mere Coronary Arteritis. Front Pediatr. 2020;8:526969. Available from: <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/33072669/</u>
- 40. Reddy S, Rai M, Singh Chouhan RR, Rao S, Kamath N. Electrocardiographic Analysis of Repolarization Changes in South Indian Children with Kawasaki Disease after the Acute Phase of Illness. Int J Pediatr. 2018;2018:1062154. Available from: <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/30079093/</u>
- 41. Marchesi A, Tarissi de Jacobis I, Rigante D, et al. Kawasaki disease: guidelines of Italian Society of Pediatrics, part II treatment of resistant forms and cardiovascular complications, follow-up, lifestyle and prevention of cardiovascular risks. Ital J Pediatr. 2018; 44(1):103. Available from: <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/30157893/</u>
- 42. Chen S, Dong Y, Kiuchi MG, Wang J, Li R, Ling Z, et al. Coronary Artery Complication in Kawasaki Disease and the Importance of Early Intervention: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. JAMA Pediatr. 2016 Dec 1;170(12):1156–63. Available from: <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/27749951/</u>
- Chen S, Dong Y, Yin Y, Krucoff MW. Intravenous immunoglobulin plus corticosteroid to prevent coronary artery abnormalities in Kawasaki disease: a meta-analysis. Heart. 2013; 99:76-82. Available from: <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/22869678/</u>
- 44. Tremoulet AH. Adjunctive therapies in Kawasaki Disease. Int J Rheum Dis. 2018 Jan;21(1):76–9. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5777888/
- 45. Gambacorta A, Buonsenso D, De Rosa G, et al. Resolution of giant coronary aneurysms in a child with refractory Kawasaki disease treated with anakinra. Front Pediatr. 2020;
 8:195. Available from: <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/32457855/</u>
- 46. Maggio MC, Cimaz R, Alaimo A, Comparato C, Di Lisi D, Corsello G. Kawasaki disease triggered by parvovirus infection: an atypical case report of two siblings. J Med Case Rep. 2019 Apr 24;13(1):104. Available from: <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/31014402/</u>

- 47. Kone-Paut I, Cimaz R, Herberg J, et al. The use of interleukin 1 receptor antagonist (anakinra) in Kawasaki disease: a retrospective cases series. Autoimmun Rev. 2018; 17:768-74. Available from: <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/29885546/</u>
- Guillaume MP, Reumaux H, Dubos F. Usefulness and safety of anakinra in refractory Kawasaki disease complicated by coronary artery aneurysm. Cardiol Young. 2018; 28:739-42. Available from: <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/29455693/</u>
- 49. Lind-Holst M, Hartling UB, Christensen AE. High-dose anakinra as treatment for macrophage activation syndrome caused by refractory Kawasaki disease in an infant. BMJ Case Rep. 2019; 12(8):e229708. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/31383678/
- 50. Tremoulet AH, Jain S, Kim S, Newburger J, Arditi M, Franco A, et al. Rationale and study design for a phase I/IIa trial of anakinra in children with Kawasaki disease and early coronary artery abnormalities (the ANAKID trial). Contemporary Clinical Trials. 2016 May 1;48:70–5. Available from: <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/27080929/</u>